PWE - Schools -

- AUSCO 'e/‘a/

HISTORY

Haymarket H.S.

PRINGE WILLIAM PUBLIC LIBRARY SYSTEM
RELIC/Bull Run Reg Lib, Manassas, VA

Haymarket ngh School,
mo/éy Remembered
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Students at Haymarket High School on Fayette Street posed for this photo about 1914. Emma Peters (third from left, between two other girls) is the onyly
student identified. Courtesy of Millpark.org.

If a person were to search for “Haymarket High School” on the
Internet, a number of links would appear leading to information

about Battlefield High School, located off U.S. 15 north of
Haymarket.

This makes sense.

Opened in 2004 on an 80-acre campus, the 276,000 sq. ft. state-
of-the-art Battlefield High School facility has a student body of
2,900 students in grades 9-12, taught and administered by a staff
of 250. The school has built a reputation of academic excellence,
as well as highly competitive sports teams. It is Haymarket’s high
school.

But in the past, a “Haymarket High School” actually existed; in
fact, there were two early schools that held that distinction. But
changes in population and demographics in the areas served by
these schools resulted in different educational requirements over
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the years, as they do now.

The first school in the village was a combination school and town
hall in the frame building on Washington Street that was once the
town hall, and now houses the Haymarket Museum. It first started
in 1883, when a group of local citizens petitioned the Prince
William County School Board to provide a school in Haymarket.

The School Board agreed, but the town would have to build
the schoolhouse and pay half of the teacher’s salary “...until the
School Board should feel justified in assuming the paying of the
whole salary,” according to the minutes of the Sept. 1, 1883 School
Board meeting. As part of the agreement, the School Board would
also provide $150 worth of furniture.

The local commission went to work and raised the money
needed to build the schoolhouse and pay their part of the teacher’s
salary. The combination town hall and school was built in 1884
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by Will Shirley, on land at the corner of Washington and Fayette
streets donated to the town by Thomas Smith, John Reid and
Eppa Hunton. The school rented its space from the town, an
arrangement that would last for the next 26 years.

Haymarket High School

In September 1909, the School Board purchased a lot on the north
end of Fayette Street from Franz Peters, and began construction
of a new schoolhouse, which opened in 1910. It was originally a
two-room frame building,
with “one room up and one
down,” that cost $2,500,
according to Lucy Walsh
Phinney in  Yesterday's
Schools. “In the beginning,
only the lower room was
used as a classroom, and one
teacher taught grades 1-7,”
wrote Mrs. Phinney.

Increased enrollment
— reported to be 45
students, with 30 in regular
attendance — resulted in the
upstairs room being used,
and an assistant teacher
hired. By the 1905-06 school
year, it was necessary to add
two more classrooms to the
school and hire a janitor to
maintain the building. In
1907, the old wood burning
stoves were replaced by
coal stoves that heated the
four classrooms. The Peters
family owned open property
west of the school, which
they permitted the school to
use as an athletic field.

The next big change
came in 1920. The need
to offer high school grades
for students in Haymarket-
Gainesville resulted in four
more rooms added to the
schoolhouse. It was known
as the Haymarket High School, although both elementary and
secondary classes were taught there. Students from Catharpin,
Hickory Grove, Gainesville, Groveton and Buckland also attended
the school.

The first principal of Haymarket High School was H.M. Pearson,
who later became an administrator in the Fauquier County Public
School system. The size of the faculty increased, and some of
the teachers boarded at the Garrett house (now “Details for the
Home”) on Jefferson Street, which backed-up to the school.

“The exterior of the building was wood siding with a metal
roof and a cupola,” wrote Mrs. Phinney. “In addition to the eight
classrooms, there was a basement laboratory, but no auditorium
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Originally built in 1884 as a combination town hall/schoolhouse,
this building on Washington Street now houses the Haymarket
Museum.

and no gymnasium.” The building had electricity for lighting, but
there was no indoor plumbing; a pump outside in the schoolyard
provided water, and the bathrooms were outdoor privies.

As the population in Western Prince William County grew,
overcrowding became an issue, and as early as 1928, a bond issue
to build a new high school was on the ballot, but failed.

During the 1933-34 school year — with enrollment at 193
students — School Superintendent Richard C. Haydon described
the combination
elementary/high  school
as ‘“inadequate,” and
“lacking in  modern
equipment.” In February
1934, the School Board
resolved to build a new
facility, but at the time,
the U.S. was suffering

through  the  Great
Depression. While
funding for a new high
school was  sought,

overcrowding  worsened
and the old town hall was
used in 1935 to house the

overflow of students.

Gainesville
Elementary School

A two-acre site on
John Marshall Highway
northeast of Haymarket
was purchased from W.
M. Jordan, and bids were
sought to build a new
school. Carolyn Wyrsch
of Haymarket compiled
a history of the school
for its 50" anniversary
in 1985, and wrote,
“Initially, the grant
from the Public Works
Administration and the
loan from the Literary
Fund of Virginia were
promised for the purpose
of the construction of a two-story, seven classroom and auditorium-
gymnasium school building.”

Unfortunately, the first bids were at least $5,000 over the projected
cost, and the plans had to be changed, resulting in a smaller
building with four classrooms and a combination auditorium/
gymnasium. Winning bidder for the project at $38,888 was the ].
H. Bennett Co. of Richmond. The contract was approved on May
29, 1935, and work started immediately. “Local labor was hired
to speed the construction over the warm summer of 1935,” wrote
Mrs. Wyrsch in 1985. “Working at such low Depression wages as
10 cents an hour, there are local residents today that can point
with pride to the end product of their labor.”
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The new school opened on Dec. 16, 1935 with the first through
fourth grade classes housed in the new building. Grades five
through seven remained at the old facility with the high school
students.

The principal of the Haymarket High School served as principal
of both schools, and a head teacher oversaw the daily activities
at the new school. Students of both schools used the auditorium-
gymnasium at the new school for assemblies, sports events and
graduation.

Again, changing demographics dictated how the facilities would
be utilized. “While originally intended to be a new high school
for Haymarket, it was felt because of the increasing number of
elementary age students, the new building would be best utilized
as an elementary school,” wrote Mrs. Wyrsch.

At the end of the 1941 school year, Haymarket High School
effectively ceased to exist when the high school students were
transferred to Osbourn High School in Manassas, and the
building reconfigured for the lower grades.

The reason given by the School Board was that there weren’t
enough high school students to justify a separate school in
Haymarket, a claim Mrs. Louise Lightner Jamison, a member
of the Class of 41 and a former teacher, disputes to this day.
“Nokesville didn’t have any more students than Haymarket, but
they got to keep their high school,” she recalled.

Taking the high school out of Haymarket had a very negative
impact on the town. “Gone were the ball teams that gave
Haymarket an identity, gone were the commencement exercises,
school plays and other activities associated with the high school,”
wrote Sarah M. Turner in Haymarket: A Town in Transition.

The old Haymarket High School building continued to be

Located on Rt. 55 east of Haymarket, Gainesville Elementary School was opened in 1935, and expanded several times. It now serves as the PACE
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used for the lower grades through the 1946-47 school year. In
November 1947, James R. Gossom purchased the old school for
$5,000 at an auction held by the School Board. It was subsequently
divided into apartments, and later destroyed by fire. An empty lot
remains where the school once stood.

Growth and Change

In the meantime, student enrollment at the Gainesville
Elementary School was growing. In 1946, a substantial
construction project added four classrooms, a clinic/office, library,
and a kitchen and cafeteria. “Prior to the addition of the kitchen,
students would bring their own lunch, or partake of the soup-
kitchen style lunch made in the corridor alongside the stage,”
wrote Mrs. Wyrsch.

A second expansion took place in 1954, adding four more
classrooms and a vestibule on the west wing of the building. In
1963, five more classrooms were added, and later in the 1960s,
the cafeteria was expanded.

With the school desegregation ordered by the Civil Rights
Act of 1964, the “freedom of choice” practice was no longer
allowed. In order to accomplish complete integration by 1966,
the School Board annexed the formerly all-black Antioch-
McCrae Elementary School built in 1953 at Thoroughfare to
Gainesville. Then, all Gainesville District kindergarten and
first grade students were assigned to Antioch-McCrae before
transitioning to Gainesville Elementary.

The George G. Tyler Elementary School opened in 1968 on John
Marshall Highway between Haymarket and Gainesville, and
took in the sixth grade students in order to ease overcrowding at
Gainesville Elementary. Like the unrealized plan to use the 1935
Gainesville school as a high school, the 1973 plan to convert Tyler
to a middle school never materialized — again, due to changing
demographics. The area needed another elementary school, and
this time it was Tyler.

“If students lived on the west side of U.S. 15, Broad Run and
Bull Run Mountain, they went to Antioch for the first two
years, and then on to Gainesville Elementary,” according to

Haymarket High School continued on page 10

West School. Inset: Entablature above the front entrance to the old Gainesville Elementary School includes the date of its opening, 1935.
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Haymarket High School continued from page 8

“Mrs. Wyrsch. “The students who lived on the east side of U.S.

15, Haymarket, Catharpin and part of Gainesville went to Tyler
Elementary. When Antioch-McCrae was deemed to be in poor
condition, those students who would have gone to Gainesville
were sent to Tyler for kindergarten and first grade, and then to
Gainesville Elementary for grades two through five.” Antioch-
McCrae Elementary School was finally closed in 1982.

Other changes would occur over the years, as the population in
Western Prince William steadily grew. Most students in the region,
including Haymarket, went to Osbourn High School in Manassas
(opened in the early 1950s), followed by Stonewall Jackson and
Osbourn Park high schools, which opened in the 1970s.

While it would be several years before Haymarket had its own
high school, there was significant shuffling in the lower grades.
“My son was in the last class at Gainesville Elementary,”
recalled Mrs. Wyrsch. “When Tyler became overcrowded and
many felt that Gainesville Elementary needed to be updated,
Mountain View Elementary was opened (in September 1995),
and Gainesville Elementary became PACE West.”

The need for additional elementary school seats continued to
grow as more new residents, many with young families, moved
into the Haymarket area. . W. Alvey Elementary was opened in
September 2003, and Samuel L. Gravely Jr. Elementary followed
in 2008.

In September 2012, Prince William County will open its 16*

middle school on 42 acres near Silver Lake, west of Haymarket.
Ground was broken on May 27, 2010 for the 136,622 square foot
facility, which will have 52 classrooms and a projected student
body of 1,000, relieving overcrowding at the existing middle
schools serving Western Prince William.

The School Board has solicited volunteers to serve on the
15-member Silver Lake Middle School Boundary Planning
Committee, and public meetings on the new school boundaries
will be held. For more information, visit the Prince William
County Public Schools Web site at http://pwcs.edu.

Much has changed since the citizens’ committee was set up in
the early 1880s to establish the first public school in Haymarket,
but the commitment to provide quality public education for the
children of Haymarket and surrounding areas remains the same.
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Stressed? Relationship troubles?
Depressed? Major life changes?

Don’t know where to turn?
Need someone to talk to?

ALlc Counselin Don’t wait another day!
mg Hg Call (703) 405 - 8915 or email

info@counselingmanassas.com
Because relationships mean everything

A dedicated provider of quality mental health counseling services -
individual therapy for adults, adolescents and children.

Www.counselin gmanassas.com

FREE MARCH PASS TO OUR
KETTLEBALL METABOLIC BOOTCAMP

We will offer
a Free month
of Results-Driven fitness
to those
that are serious about
raising their metabolism,
getting stronger, and
= improving their mobility
T— and flexibility.
CITTT— 1
L 6611 Jefferson St., Suite 103
B _ll Haymarket, VA
Sriaa Wrignt Persensi Training 703.582.6087
Brian Wright, MS, CSCS, RKC, CPT
CrIm—
- www.bw-pt.com




A Few Good Reasons to
Think Locally First '%
Reason #4 f

Value: In Prince William County, you're more likely to find

WWW. “extras” that add value to your purchase, such as being
.facebook.com/ assisted by workers who are friends or neighbors and

haymarkethfeStyle the opportunity to get to know others who live in your
neighborhood. Friendly faces make shopping a much more
pleasant experience.
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